Guidance Document

Perinatal Mental Health

Guidance for the identification and management of mental health in pregnant or postpartum individuals

July 2021



building a brighter future

Contents

Introduction	3
Acronyms, Abbreviations and Definitions	4
Intended Use	5
Background	5
Clinical Conditions and Presentation	6
Transient Mental Health Concerns	6
Method	10
Application of the Care Pathway	11
Step 1: ASK	12
Step 2: ADVISE	14
Step 3: ASSESS	15
Step 4: ASSIST	16
Step 5: ARRANGE	23
Summary	24
Project Team and Acknowledgements	25
References	26
Appendix A: Care Pathway Tool	32
Appendix B: Table of Clinical Guidelines	34
Appendix C: Ontario Perinatal Record – Mental Health Screening Tools	35
Appendix D: Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7)	36
Appendix E: Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9)	37
Appendix F: Edinburgh Perinatal/Postnatal Depression Scale (EDPS)	38
Appendix G: Form 1 Mental Health Act	39

Introduction

Mental health is an important part of one's overall well-being and involves effective functioning with activities of daily living. This includes supportive activities (e.g., caregiving), healthy relationships (e.g., family bonding), and the ability to cope and adapt to change and challenging life events [1]. It is clear that the impact of untreated mental health problems in pregnant and postpartum individuals may result in negative outcomes for the parent, child and family. For children, there can be substantial impact to parent-child attachment, and to child growth, development and socioemotional well-being, which can lead to intergenerational effects with long-term implications for developmental trajectories [2].

To assist healthcare providers (HCPs) in delivering high-quality standardized care to pregnant and postpartum individuals, there was a recognized need to develop an Ontario-specific care pathway focused on perinatal mental health. The <u>Care Pathway</u> for the Management of Perinatal Mental Health (the care pathway) is designed to support HCP understanding about how to identify those who are pregnant or postpartum who may be experiencing difficulties with their mental health, assess the severity of their symptoms, determine an appropriate care or treatment that corresponds to need, and follow individuals through their care journey to ensure that their mental healthcare needs are being met.

The objective of the care pathway is to build HCP understanding and awareness of the delivery of mental healthcare for pregnant and postpartum individuals across Ontario, including how to:

(1) **Identify** individuals who may require care.

(2) **Direct** them to the care pathway most likely to be effective for them, depending on their level of need and treatment preferences.

(3) **Monitor** via follow-up to ensure individuals are engaging with care pathway services and are directed to additional resources when appropriate.

The scope of this work is focused on a care pathway supported by current evidence on best practices, and on existing Ontario-based resources for mental health support and treatment. This includes a tool sheet (page two of the care pathway) that follows a stepped-care approach that begins with identification and ends at treatment and/or follow-up. This guidance document should be used in conjunction with the care pathway tool (Appendix A) to support its appropriate application.

The scope of this work <u>does not include</u> guidance on specific mental disorder(s) and/or substance use. In addition, specific details about recommended pharmacological (drug) treatments or their potential benefits and harms when used in pregnancy and/or lactation are not included in this report. Instead, links to evidence-based up-to-date information are provided in the treatment pathway.

Acronyms, Abbreviations, and Definitions

APA	American Psychiatric Association
BORN	Better Outcomes & Registry Network Ontario
СРА	Canadian Psychiatric Association
DSM-5	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th Edition) is the standard classification of mental disorders used by mental health professionals in the United States and is applied broadly within Canada.
HCPs	Healthcare providers such as physicians, midwives, nurses, or other regulated healthcare providers (often in a primary care setting) that may support pregnant or postpartum individuals.
Mental Health	Mental health involves the effective function of activities of daily living (such as work, school, caregiving or maintaining relationships, ability to adapt to change and cope with adversity).
Mental Illness	Mental illnesses are health conditions involving changes in emotion, thinking or behaviour (or a combination of these).
PCMCH	Provincial Council for Maternal and Child Health
GAD	Generalized Anxiety Disorder
OCD	Obsessive Compulsive Disorder
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
EPDS	Edinburgh Perinatal/Postnatal Depression Scale
РНО	Public Health Ontario
PHAC	Public Health Agency of Canada
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
SOGC	Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada
RNAO	Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario
WHO	World Health Organization

Intended Use

The care pathway outlines five steps that can be considered in the management of perinatal mental health: ask, advise, assess, assist, and arrange. This report describes these steps and is paired with an implementation care pathway tool where these steps are described briefly. The pathway provides direction for HCPs to guide pregnant and postpartum individuals to the most appropriate type of care, while remaining flexible in its application to a wide range of diverse population groups. HCPs must tailor the treatment approach to meet individuals' unique needs in all their diversity. HCPs must perform an individualized assessment and apply clinical judgment to ensure a safe and effective plan of care. This document does not take the place of national or provincial medical guidelines.

The resources hyperlinked in the care pathway and guidance document are current and consistent with the intended purpose of this work, as of the date of publication.

Background

The World Health Organization (WHO) indicates mental health issues that occur around the time of pregnancy are a major public health concern [3]. Perinatal mental illness can impact the quality of life and well-being of parents and, when untreated, may increase their risk of chronic mental illness. While rare, suicide is a leading cause of maternal death [4, 5, 6, 7]. Mental illness in pregnancy and postpartum has also been linked to problems with children's growth and development, including preterm birth, low birth weight and delayed development (cognitive, behavioural and emotional). It may also put the child at increased risk for developing mental health issues later in life themselves [4, 5, 7, 8, 9].

Any type of mental health issue can affect pregnant and postpartum individuals [4, 7]. This includes common conditions such as depression, anxiety, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and trauma and stressor-related illnesses. Less common, but often more severe, illnesses such as bipolar and psychotic disorders could also develop. Alcohol and substance use disorders may also be present in the perinatal period, either on their own, or accompanying other mental health issues. According to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5), the diagnostic criteria for mental health concerns occurring around the time of pregnancy are the same as when these conditions arise in the general (non-pregnant or postpartum) population [10]. However, there are specific considerations that are important to their management in the perinatal period, including how psychological treatments may need to be adapted, and how to make decisions around the safety of medication use during pregnancy and lactation. As a result, the DSM-5 allows for a diagnostic specifier to be attached to some diagnoses, such as depressive disorders, when the onset of illness occurs during pregnancy or within the first four weeks postpartum. For practical purposes, most clinical and research experts consider symptoms arising within the first year postpartum as

"perinatal", given that many of the issues in the transition to parenthood remain relevant through this time [11]. To support HCP practice, a perinatal mental healthcare pathway provides a recommended approach for the identification, assessment and monitoring of mental health issues for pregnant and postpartum people in Ontario. The care pathway does not replace individualized assessment, and clinical judgment is required to ensure safe, effective, equitable and inclusive treatment.

Clinical Conditions and Presentation

Transient Mental Health Concerns

Some pregnant and postpartum individuals present with symptoms of common mental health concerns in the context of the transition to parenthood that do not result in substantial impairment. Such symptoms often resolve with support and resolution of initial stressors (e.g., sleep deprivation, difficulty breastfeeding). These are known as adjustment disorders, which are defined as emotional or behavioural symptoms (such as low mood or anxiety) in response to a specific stressor or another event that exceeds what would normally be expected [7]. These disorders typically occur within three months from the time of the stressor, resolve within six months, and may require supportive care but not formal therapies or medication [7]. In postpartum specifically, as many as 60 to 80 per cent of individuals who have given birth experience emotional symptoms due to hormone changes that tend to resolve on their own without intervention in the weeks after delivery. This phenomenon, commonly referred to as "baby blues", is most often characterized by sadness, tearfulness and sometimes irritability that comes and goes throughout the day. It does not persist, nor become so severe that day-to-day life is affected [12].

Mental Health Issues Requiring Additional Clinical Attention

While some mental health issues resolve over time and on their own (or with support and improved sleep, for example) others may be more persistent and develop into a clinical mental disorder requiring more than supportive interventions. Described below are common mental illnesses seen in the perinatal period, including depression, anxiety and related disorders, and less prevalent but often more severe presentations of illness. To see the full list of required symptoms or criteria for all mental disorders, including those out of scope for this guidance document, please consult the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, fifth edition (DSM-5) [13].

Depression To be diagnosed with depression in pregnancy or postnatally, the DSM-5 indicates that a person must experience prolonged (at least two weeks of) low mood or loss of interest in activities that would have previously been enjoyable, as well as a total of five symptoms that include at least one of these two key symptoms.

Depression cont'd	Disruptions in sleep, appetite or concentration, excessive feelings of guilt/low self-worth, feeling keyed up or slowed down, and suicidal thoughts or intent may be other indicators [13].Symptoms of anxiety are common in individuals experiencing depression around the time of pregnancy, and attacks of panic (shortness of breath, chest pain, claustrophobia, dizziness, heart palpitations, and numbness or tingling in the extremities) can be present even in the absence of an anxiety disorder. Depressive episodes can range from mild symptomatology to more severe symptoms and impairment. At the most severe end of the spectrum, individuals may develop suicidal ideation and plans and/or psychotic symptoms [14]. Individuals presenting with depressive symptoms should be assessed for a history of mania or hypomania to rule out bipolar disorder (later discussed under <i>bipolar and psychotic disorders</i>), as a diagnosis of bipolar disorder might have implications for the treatment plan.
Anxiety and Related Disorders	Common anxiety and related disorders presenting perinatally include Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD), Panic Disorder, Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (OCD) and Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). Similar to depression, these disorders present along a spectrum of severity, depending on the level of symptoms and degree of impact on quality of life. GAD presents with excessive worry that is difficult to control, impacting energy, concentration and sleep. Panic disorder occurs when attacks of anxiety occur out of the blue and leave individuals nervous about having recurring attacks [15]. OCD symptoms include obsessional thoughts (recurrent, intrusive thoughts or images that lead to substantial distress), sometimes accompanied by behaviours or repeated mental rituals ("compulsions") that temporarily reduce the distress (e.g., a postpartum person has recurrent intrusive thoughts that their child will die while sleeping so repeatedly checks on the child throughout the night) [4]. PTSD symptoms occur in relation to traumatic events – sometimes following a traumatic childbirth experience. Affected individuals may re- experience events in nightmares, flashbacks and re-living of events, and feel the need to avoid feelings, people or places associated with the event [4, 14].
Bipolar and Psychotic Disorders	Bipolar and psychotic disorders – rarer than depression, anxiety and related disorders – can have serious health outcomes and impact the quality of life for the parent, child and surrounding family. Bipolar disorders are characterized by episodes of elevated or irritable mood (mania), as well as depressive episodes [5]. Individuals with bipolar disorder are at high risk for relapse, particularly in the first few weeks postpartum, with depression as the most common relapse presentation and mania also occurring [4].

Bipolar and Psychotic Disorders cont'd	Individuals with bipolar disorder are also at particularly high risk for postpartum (also known as puerperal) psychosis (see below), especially in the setting of sleep deprivation or other stressors. Psychotic disorders, like schizophrenia, are characterized by symptoms such as delusions, hallucinations, disorganized thinking/speech, grossly disorganized or abnormal motor behaviour (including catatonia) and negative symptoms (e.g., apathy, inability to show emotions, withdrawal from social situations) [13]. Many individuals with schizophrenia have successful parenting experiences with appropriate support; however, there is an increased risk for pregnancy complications and infant health effects in this population, as well as risk of destabilization of illness in pregnancy and the postpartum period [4]. Individuals affected by both bipolar disorder and schizophrenia often require ongoing medication treatment to avoid relapse, including during pregnancy and lactation, which may require specialized care and advice.
Postpartum Psychosis	Postpartum psychosis occurs in 0.1 to 0.5 per cent of individuals [7]. It most often arises within the first two to four weeks after childbirth, and may include symptoms of mania, severe depression, delusions and/or hallucinations, and disorganized speech, thoughts or behaviours. Individuals with a previous history of postpartum psychosis are at very high risk of recurrence, as are individuals with bipolar and psychotic disorders (see above) [5]. Postpartum psychosis is considered a psychiatric emergency and is a risk factor for self-harm, suicide, and harm to the infant or other children, including infanticide [8]. If there is postpartum psychosis, or active intent or plan for harm to self or others, the client will require urgent care and hospitalization for immediate treatment.
Differential Diagnosis and Co- occurring Conditions	For a mental health condition to be diagnosed, the symptoms must not be better explained by either a medical condition or by a substance or substance use disorder. Several common medical conditions such as anemia, thyroid abnormalities, Vitamin B12 deficiency, or untreated alcohol or substance use disorders, can mimic or worsen mental health conditions. These conditions should always be considered as alternate diagnoses or issues that may be perpetuating mental health symptomatology.

Prevalence

It is estimated that up to 20 per cent of pregnant and postpartum people struggle with their mental health [16]. Major risk factors for perinatal mental illness are personal or family history of mental illness, low levels of social support, and current life stressors such as partner discord, financial problems and child health [17]. Perinatal mental

illness rates appear to be highest in low-income countries, and in individuals facing socioeconomic disadvantage and marginalization [8]. In Ontario, a diagnosed and/or self-reported mental health concern in pregnancy (pre-existing, diagnosed during the pregnancy or active during the pregnancy) was recorded for about 20 per cent of the 139,488 pregnant people in fiscal year (FY) 2019-2020 (Table 1). The most commonly reported concerns were anxiety (15.1 per cent) and depression (9.8 per cent).

Table 1: Percentage of pregnant people reporting mental health concerns in Ontario (FY 2019-2020)



Data from Better Outcomes Registry and Network (BORN) Ontario. Years Provided: (2019 to 2020). Resource Type: Tabulated data. Data Provided on March 11, 2021. All inferences, opinions, and conclusions drawn in this publication are those of the authors, and do not necessarily reflect the opinions or policies of BORN Ontario. Note: Mental health concerns are a multiple-selection data element in the BORN Information System which means that an individual can select more than one mental health condition. The total number of individuals (all pregnancies that resulted in a live or stillbirth) in fiscal year 2019/2020 among pregnant individuals who are residents of Ontario totalled 139,488. About 79 per cent of these had no mental health concern reported.

Perinatal mental health concerns of pregnant people in Ontario have increased as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic [18, 19]. In the first nine months of the pandemic, there were increased rates of diagnoses of anxiety, depressive, alcohol or substance use disorders among pregnant and postnatal people, particularly within the first 90 days after birth as compared to the remainder of the first year after birth [19]. Therefore, the early postnatal period represents a vulnerable time for families. This is consistent with findings from national studies: Canadian mothers are reporting significantly higher levels of depressive and anxiety symptoms [20, 21]. Pregnant people who reported higher levels of social support and physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic had significantly lower anxiety symptoms. [21] Access to care has been complicated due to

the pandemic [22], thus further emphasizing the importance of identifying individuals in need of support, care and intervention. Healthcare providers report that COVID-19 has complicated access to care, including reduced in-person visits and overall services [23]. Many social determinants of health, including socioeconomic status, geographic location and race, influence a person's risk of facing mental health issues and the probability that the individual will have access to treatment. Systemic health inequities have been magnified in vulnerable populations as well as Indigenous communities and Nations across Ontario during the COVID-19 pandemic [24].

Method

Literature Review

The development of the care pathway and guidance document was informed by evidence identified in a literature review. Research databases searched included: Ovid, PubMed, MEDLINE, Cochrane Library and select journals, including *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada, Canadian Medical Association Journal, British Medical Journal* and *Journal of the American Medical Association* (JAMA). Search terms included: care pathway; perinatal; mental health; depression; anxiety; baby-blues; pregnancy; postpartum. Articles referencing mental health issues, such as substance abuse or addictions, were excluded as they did not meet the scope criteria outlined in this document. Thirty-one articles were identified related to this topic and its inclusion criteria.

National and international clinical practice guidelines were also reviewed (Appendix B). These included guidelines from Public Health Ontario, Registered Nurses Association of Ontario, Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada, Public Health Agency of Canada and the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. General and diagnostic information was derived from the DSM-5 published by the American Psychiatric Association (APA) where appropriate [13].

Stakeholder Consultation

The care pathway was developed in consultation with subject matter experts who helped apply evidence-based practice recommendations from clinical guidelines to a local Ontario context. Two focus group sessions were held with diverse clinical stakeholders to review and share feedback on the application of the care pathway from their perspective and/or from use in their clinical practice.

Data

Data were requested from the Better Outcomes Registry and Network (BORN) Ontario to provide background on the prevalence of multiple self-reported mental health concerns.

Application of the Care Pathway

To assist HCPs in ensuring that pregnant and postpartum individuals receive high quality evidence-based care, the care pathway (Appendix A) was developed as a resource to support the identification and management of individuals who require intervention for mental health during the perinatal period.

A stepped-care approach to manage mental health problems was adopted as a useful mechanism to follow care guidelines, being recognized by institutions such as the *National Institute for Health and Care Excellence* [25]. This stepped approach will help Ontario HCPs navigate the diverse treatment options and improve service access when addressing perinatal mental health concerns. While the pathway provides a standardized approach for perinatal mental healthcare, clinical judgment is required to ensure that care plans are tailored to meet the diverse needs and contexts of an individual. A person can enter at any step in the care pathway and move up or down it based on severity of illness and response to prior interventions. Treatments can build upon interventions available in the lower steps. Ongoing monitoring is required regardless of the treatment step being applied

Pre-conception planning

While not covered by the care pathway, optimizing management <u>prior to pregnancy</u> for individuals with pre-existing mental illness or risk factors for an episode in the perinatal period is ideal. Management includes preventative strategies such as: optimizing health behaviours, including nutrition, physical activity and sleep patterns; promoting a supportive environment; reviewing current or previously used psychological and pharmacological interventions; and engaging treatment to reduce risk for relapse perinatally. Plans for pharmacological management during pregnancy and breastfeeding should be made with a shared decision-making approach to balance benefits and risks of medication use in pregnancy and lactation for the pregnant person and infant [5, 17, 26].

Care pathway steps

The care pathway for pregnancy and postpartum includes five steps, described in more detail below.



Step 1: ASK

Ask about the well-being of the pregnant or postpartum person at every visit to identify a need for mental health support and treatment.

The first step is to identify early if a pregnant or postpartum person may be struggling with their mental health. Early identification can create an opportunity for the healthcare team to improve short-term maternal, infant and family outcomes and provide supports to mitigate long-term adverse outcomes [4, 7, 17, 27, 28]. HCPs should be alert to risk factors for mental illness – especially those that can be addressed with appropriate social and/or community supports and services. Major risk factors for mental illness in the perinatal period include a personal or family history of mental illness, low social support and current life stressors, including partner discord, financial problems and child illness [17, 29].

At each visit, the HCP should attend to any signs or symptoms of mental health difficulty, including non-specific symptoms such as insomnia and fatigue, and difficulty in home, relationship or occupational functioning [5, 7, 17]. The HCP can *then ask* the pregnant or postpartum person about their mental health, sensitively inquiring about how a person is feeling and coping, or about specific symptoms. The dialogue should include a focus on a person's mental health within their own unique context and in all their diversity, with attention to a person's age, gender identity, race, ethnicity, ability and disability, and other relevant factors. HCPs should draw on available equity, diversity, and inclusion resources.

Healthy Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) Program and Interactions between Healthcare and Other Sectors in the Identification of Individuals in need of Perinatal Mental Healthcare

Pregnant and postpartum individuals requiring assistance with their mental health may also come to the attention of their HCPs through the individual's support system (e.g., family, partner) or via other community agencies with which the individual has been interacting, including social services, shelters and agencies assisting with supports for domestic violence.

HCPs should be aware that support for perinatal mental health issues is available through the Healthy Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) program, a free program delivered through Ontario's public health units in partnership with hospitals and other community partners [30]. The HBHC program uses screening and assessment to identify families at risk of compromised healthy child development, who may benefit from a home-visiting program so families can receive supports and services they need, including those that enhance maternal mental health, self-care and parenting capacity while in the community [31]. Referrals from HBHC may also be made to HCPs given that, while not specific to mental health screening, the HBHC screening tool can identify someone who may require mental health support. Screening is offered through HBHC to pregnant people and their families and to families with children from birth to their transition to school. Universal screening is offered at the postpartum stage. <u>Visit the Ontario HBHC website for more information</u>. No specific tools are required to sensitively ask a pregnant or postpartum person about their mental health. However, to improve identification of issues and to help Ontario HCPs identify individuals struggling with their mental health, several validated depression and anxiety screening tools are contained in the Ontario Perinatal Record (OPR), previously known as the Antenatal Record 1 & 2. Since 1979, the OPR has been the standard tool for documenting perinatal care and provider visits [32]. In 2017, the OPR was updated to append specific screening tools to the record so providers would have easy access to evidence-based screening tools at each perinatal visit (Appendix C, page 4 of the OPR). The tools below are used internationally, have been translated into various languages and validated in diverse populations [33, 34, 35, 36].

• Generalized Anxiety Disorder-2 (GAD-2)

GAD-2 is a validated two-item tool that screens for anxiety and can be used repeatedly with perinatal people at risk of anxiety or to confirm symptomatology. Studies indicate a sensitivity of 76 per cent and a specificity of 81 per cent with GAD-2 [37]. A total score of three or more warrants consideration of using the **GAD-7** (Appendix D) for further assessment or additional mental health follow-up. A study conducted for primary care patients with GAD-7 had a recorded Cronbach's alpha of 0.92, 89 per cent sensitivity and 82 per cent specificity [38].

• Patient Health Questionnaire-2 (PHQ-2)

The PHQ-2 is a validated two-item tool to screen for depression that can be used repeatedly with perinatal people at high risk of depression or to confirm symptomatology [32]. A total score of three or more warrants consideration of using the **PHQ-9** (Appendix E). Previous studies have indicated a PHQ-9 score of 10 or more signified a depressive disorder at an 88 per cent sensitivity and 88 per cent specificity [39]. Alternatively, to the PHQ-9, one could use the **Edinburgh Perinatal/Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)** (Appendix F).

 Edinburgh Perinatal/Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) (Appendix F) EPDS is an internationally recommended tool that can be used if the PHQ score indicates risk or can be administered on its own. Studies indicate that this tool demonstrates major depressive disorder with a sensitivity of >90 per cent and specificity of >80 per cent has a cut-off score of ≥10, and a sensitivity of >85 per cent and specificity of >80 per cent with a cut-off score of ≥13 [40].

Clinical Pearl — "Screening" vs "Diagnosis"

While these screening tools are helpful in identifying someone who is struggling with their mental health and **may** have a mental illness, they **do not** replace a clinical diagnostic interview [12]. Some individuals may not score above cut-offs on screening tools but do have significant mental health issues requiring care. Other individuals may screen "positive" on one of the scales but a clinical diagnostic interview may determine that there is another explanation for their symptoms, including a medical condition, alcohol or substance use disorder, or transient stressors where symptoms are likely to resolve with the stressor itself. These important considerations will guide treatment.

Step 2: ADVISE

Advise by providing education on perinatal mental health and arrange support to mitigate factors that are affecting mental health.

By starting conversations about the challenges of pregnancy and parenthood in Step 1 (ASK), HCPs can create a non-judgmental environment to discuss mental health. When possible and appropriate, family members can and should be included in education and treatment planning.

Education

Education about perinatal mental health should include information about prevalence, symptoms and risk factors for perinatal mental illness, as well as sensitive discussion of the potential impacts of untreated illness on both parental health and child health and development. The HCP can also educate about self-care strategies to promote mental health (such as getting adequate sleep, asking friends and family for support, eating healthy and getting exercise). Adequate time should be dedicated to discussing access to support services and psychosocial strategies to increase practical and emotional social support, improve night-time sleep, and encourage regular meals and physical activity.

Identifying and Addressing Psychosocial Risk Factors, Medical and Substance Use Comorbidities

HCPs should try to address modifiable precipitating and perpetuating factors for perinatal mental health issues (e.g., stress or anxiety related to the pregnancy or birthing experience, sleep deprivation or the feeling of being overwhelmed by caring for a newborn 24/7). As previously indicated, a medical work-up to address any easily treatable perpetuating conditions (i.e., anemia, thyroid dysfunction) is required. There may also be a need to discuss referrals to available community services, if appropriate [5, 17]. This might include accessing resources for individuals facing low social support, intimate partner violence and financial difficulties, and arranging treatment for active alcohol and/or substance use disorders.

Ontario Community Resources for Substance Use and Domestic Violence Support

Toronto Centre for Substance Use in Pregnancy (T-CUP) – Unity Health Toronto

Mothercraft - Early Intervention Programs

Barbara Schlifer Commemorative Clinic (legal, counselling and interpretation services)

Assaulted Women's Helpline – Toll Free: 1-866-863-0511 TTY Toll Free: 1-866-863-7868

Step 3: ASSESS

Assess the severity of the mental health concern.

As indicated, some mental health issues can resolve on their own with time and support, or with addressing the other risk factors or concerns identified above. However, other issues may be more persistent and develop into a clinical mental disorder requiring more than supportive interventions. For presentations that require clinical intervention, treatment planning is guided by the severity of the illness (mild, moderate, severe and urgent – see below), which is assessed by considering the number, nature and persistence of symptoms and the degree of impact on quality of life.

The general goal of the HCP assessment is to determine the level of severity as follows:

1. Mild	Few and mild symptoms but persistent with minimal impact on activities of daily living [13]. Mild severity of the common mental illness is defined as meeting the full DSM-5 criteria, but only with the minimum number of required symptoms and with minimal distress or functional impairment [5].
2. Moderate	Multiple symptoms, persistent, impacting day-to-day function and quality of life [13]. Moderate severity is a level of symptoms, distress and impairment that are more than mild but less than severe.
3. Severe	Many symptoms, persistent, significant impact on day-to- day function and quality of life [15]. A severe level of symptoms for a common mental illness can be defined as having far more of the DSM-5 criteria for the disorder than required for diagnosis, with a significant level of distress or functional impairment.
4. Urgent	Clinical concern about manic or psychotic symptoms, or active suicidal or aggressive ideation. While clinical judgment at the level of the HCPs scope of practice is required, the following general guidance can be provided to assess whether an individual has active suicidal or aggressive ideation. A person can be asked directly whether they have had any thoughts of harming themselves, their infants or anyone else. Active intent means the intent to cause harm to self or others, and/or the planning of possible ways to cause harm to self or others. [13].

Clinical Pearl — Intrusive Thoughts

It is important to recognize if the person is experiencing intrusive thoughts about harm but does not have any active intent or plan to act on these thoughts or images. Some individuals experience intrusive thoughts – also known as obsessional thoughts – that can sometimes be confused by HCPs as active suicidal or aggressive ideation. Intrusive thoughts are recurrent and persistent thoughts, urges or images experienced by the individual as invasive and inappropriate. These often cause marked anxiety and distress, and the individual has no intent to act on them [13].

If there is any uncertainty about whether a person is experiencing mania or psychosis, or if there are concerns about the safety of the individual and/or others, initiate plan to transfer patient for **emergency psychiatric assessment**.

For common mental health concerns such as depression, anxiety and related disorders, the recommended screening assessments tools can help guide severity assessment in combination with clinical assessment, as listed below:

- 1. Mild: PHQ-9 or GAD-7 score of 5-9, or EPDS score of 10 to 12.
- 2. Moderate: PHQ-9 or GAD-7 score of 10-14 or EPDS score of 13 to 18.
- **3.** Severe: PHQ-9 or GAD-7 score greater than 15, EPDS score greater than 19 or question 10 has a score greater than zero.
- **4. Urgent:** Active intent to harm self or others and/or suicidal ideation endorsed on any of the aforementioned questionnaires.

Step 4: ASSIST

Assist by recommending or implementing a Treatment Step

Recommendations for treatment are made within the context of a stepped-care model, an evidence-based approach that ensures interventions are matched to patient need [41]. A stepped-care management plan may include a range of treatment options and interventions and is adaptable to a patient's changing needs and preferences. As stated previously, a pregnant or postpartum individual can enter the pathway at any step and move between steps based on severity of illness and in response to interventions.

At all steps in the management plan, the need for additional education, identification and addressing of psychosocial, medical and other risk factors must be continually assessed. Regardless of which "Step" is being considered, a discussion of infant and childcare supports is essential in the care management plan. The <u>HBHC program</u> offers a home-visiting program so families can receive supports and services they need, including to enhance maternal mental health, self-care and parenting capacity while in the community [24]. HBHC and specific Public Health Units (PHUs) in Ontario offer a range of additional services and supports, including peer support groups, virtual parenting groups, and other psychosocial interventions that are helpful in the support of all treatment plans.

Ongoing assessment and monitoring are required to ensure that treatment is effective and adjustments are made where needed. The following approach outlines Treatment Steps based on the nature and severity of the person's symptoms, and the impact the symptoms are having on their functioning and well-being.



Each step is accompanied by suggested interventions that should be administered or recommended to patients. Whenever possible, personal preferences and circumstances of the individual and their family should be considered in decisions about treatment [4, 5, 7, 17]. With the patient's permission, a copy of the care plan should be shared with their support person [4, 5, 6].

The HCP and the individual should work together on creating a care plan with clearly identified roles to manage symptoms over the perinatal period. Other specialized staff can be invited to create a care team to support the diverse and complex needs of the individual on a case-by-case basis.

The care plan should include the following [4, 5, 6]:

- a description of the agreed-upon treatment goals and outcomes;
- a description of the agreed-upon system of monitoring and when follow-ups should occur; and
- the contact information of the care team and the roles and responsibilities for which each are accountable. This may include family and close relations should the individual allow it.

Treatment Step 1: Psychosocial Interventions (Community Support)

Symptoms	Interventions by Type	and Recommended Resources				
 Common mental health concerns such as depression or anxiety, where symptoms are mild or subclinical (may include patients for whom you are taking a watch- and-wait 	Self-help (perinatal- specific) Guided self-help	 Self-directed workbooks for depression <u>Managing Depression</u> <u>Coping with Depression during Pregnancy and Following the Birth</u> Self-directed workbooks for anxiety <u>Coping with Anxiety during Pregnancy and Following the Birth</u> <u>The Pregnancy and Postpartum Anxiety Workbook</u> e.g., internet- or paper-based self-guided 				
approach)		 intervention that may include assistance from a trained coach <u>Bounce Back Ontario</u> postpartum-specific resources (online, self and physician referral accepted) 				
	Peer support and Supportive counselling	 e.g., mother-to-mother support, and public health nurse telephone/home visits, facilitated support groups <u>Postpartum Support International</u> (Ontario- specific resources) <u>Healthy Babies, Healthy Children</u> (online/in- person, by region) 				

Focus of Intervention

Individuals with sub-syndromal or mild symptoms of common mental illnesses such as depression or anxiety may benefit from low-intensity psychological interventions [7, 5]. This first step of the pathway may also be appropriate for individuals who acknowledge their need for additional social support rather than clinical interventions.

Nature of Intervention

Low-intensity psychosocial or psychological interventions that are recommended for common perinatal mental disorders include guided self-help tools with the assistance of a coach, peer support and supportive counselling provided at home, over the phone or through support groups. Individuals can benefit at any time during pregnancy or the postpartum period from these interventions either alone or in combination.

Treatment Step 2:

Psychological Interventions and Antidepressant Medication

Sy	vmptoms	Interventions by Type ar	nd Recommended Resources
•	Common mental health concerns of mild severity that do not remit with Step 1 interventions <i>AND</i> Common mental health concerns of moderate severity or greater.	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and Interpersonal Psychotherapy (IPT)	 CBT and IPT are first-line treatments for perinatal depression and anxiety: <u>Guidance on Cognitive Behavioural Therapy</u> <u>Guidance on Interpersonal Psychotherapy</u> <u>Mother Matters:</u> Online therapist-facilitated discussion board and therapy group for postpartum depression/anxiety (free in Ontario) <u>BEACON digital therapy</u>, <u>AbilitiCBT</u>:Internetbased CBT(free in Ontario, therapist available with perinatal expertise) Additional Resources: <u>Postpartum Support International</u> (for public and private services) Local resources (e.g., Family Health Teams, Ontario Structured Psychotherapy program, private services) <u>211Ontario</u> (online Ontario community and social services database) <u>ConnexOntario</u> (online and mobile access to mental health services)
		Medication (within scope of primary care provider)	 Antidepressant can be used (and/or psychological intervention) when (1) psychological intervention alone is insufficient (2) symptoms are severe, or (3) preferred by the person Additional Resources: Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments Information on antidepressants in pregnancy and lactation: MotherToBaby, LactMed

Focus of Intervention

Individuals with sub-syndromal or mild symptoms of common mental illnesses who do not achieve a response or remission with low-intensity psychological interventions, or those who present initially with a moderate or severe level of symptoms, may benefit from higher-intensity non-pharmaceutical interventions and/or medications [5, 6]. Those who request medical interventions or high-intensity psychological interventions can also be considered in this step.

Nature of Intervention

In pregnant and postpartum individuals, psychological (non-pharmaceutical) interventions are recommended by most guidelines as the first line of treatment for those with moderately severe symptoms. Psychological interventions that may be effective for common mental illnesses in pregnancy and postpartum include cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT) for all types of common mental illnesses, and interpersonal therapy (IPT) for depression (links in Treatment Step 2 table above with more information). First-line psychological interventions such as CBT and IPT can be delivered by trained mental healthcare providers, including nurses, social workers, psychologists and physicians. In Ontario, government-funded psychological interventions are available at community health centres, from primary care, psychiatrists and various hospital-based programs, as well as online.

For those exhibiting more severe symptoms, HCPs can consider medications as the first line of treatment. Those who prefer medication treatment, or have difficulty accessing psychological treatment, may also be considered for medication treatment. The medication intervention for common mental illnesses in pregnancy and postpartum is antidepressant medications. Antidepressants can be prescribed in primary care for pregnant and breastfeeding people, and therapeutic recommendations can be found in the <u>Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments Guidelines for Health</u> <u>Professionals</u>, as listed in the table above. HCPs should discuss the benefits and risks of antidepressants when they are being considered with up to date information on the potential impacts of antidepressant medication on the developing fetus or infant (if breastfeeding) before prescribing [26].

Treatment Step 3: Additional Specialized Interventions

Symptoms	Interventions by Type and Recommended Resources				
 Mild or moderate mental health concerns that do not remit with Step 2 interventions 	Medication	 Second and third-line medication options (see <u>Canadian Network for Mood and</u> <u>Anxiety Treatments</u>) Provider to Psychiatrist E-consultation: <u>Ontario Telemedicine Network</u> Patient consultation: Refer to psychiatrist at 			
AND		local institution or network or to specialized perinatal program (Check lists at Public			

Health Units in Ontario)

 Severe mental health concerns (severe depression or other severe mental illnesses such as bipolar disorder or schizophrenia).

- Refer to local acute care centre with specialty psychiatric services. May include:
 - Specialized psychotherapy
 - Pharmacological follow-up
 - Somatic treatment options; neurostimulation, electroconvulsive therapy.
- Partial or full hospitalization

Focus of Intervention

This step is meant for individuals with a common mental illness that does not respond to interventions outlined in Step 1 and Step 2, or if there are concerns about diagnostic issues or rapidly increasing severity of illness (but without need for urgent care services). It is also meant for those who do not respond to initial antidepressant options or are experiencing severe symptoms (e.g., psychosis, suicidality) or who have a less-common mental illness that requires specialized care such as bipolar disorder or schizophrenia.

Nature of Interventions

Clinicians requiring additional information on second- and third-line medication options can review the guidelines listed in the table above. If more information or advice is needed, e-consultation networks can connect providers to psychiatrists across the province. If patients require consultations for their medication or treatment, they can be referred to a psychiatrist at a local institution or to a perinatal psychiatric program. These specialized services will support further diagnostic assessment, providing second- and third-line medication treatments (when primary care providers are not comfortable providing these) and considerations for other possible interventions. Other interventions may include neurostimulation, electroconvulsive therapy for severe depression, partial or full hospitalization. Intervening as early as possible when severe illness is identified, to minimize the risk of deterioration to urgent cases, is recommended [5, 6].

Treatment Step 4: Urgent Care and Hospitalization

Symptoms

- Suspected mania or psychosis
- Discloses intention or plan for suicide,

Interventions by Type and Recommended Resources

- Immediate Ur Action po ba ap
 - Urgent risk assessment Safety first. A person with possible mania, psychosis, thoughts of harming self or baby should NOT be left alone or with baby until an appropriate assessment is complete. Many pregnant and postpartum individuals do have "intrusive" thoughts of harm coming to their baby with no "active" intent. Each

self-harm or harm to fetus/infant provider will have a different level of comfort with this assessment.

- Provider is concerned about mania, psychosis or harm to self or others: Initiate plan to transfer patient for emergency psychiatric assessment.
 - MDs can complete an Ontario application for extended assessment (Form 1 Mental Health Act)
 - Call emergency services as needed to ensure safe transport for patient to the closest emergency department. Call local Family and Children's Services if concern about harm to child.
- Provider assesses that there is no active intent or plan for harm to self or others, and that patient has appropriate support, as well as capacity to access crisis services if symptoms worsen acutely:
 - o Mobilize patient's support system
 - Ensure the individual has contact information for crisis services.
 - Maintain close follow-up, follow treatment Steps 2 and 3 as appropriate.
 - Maintain and update plan of action with patient and patient's support system, including providers in patient's circle of care

Focus of Intervention

Urgent care is warranted when a clinician's assessment of the individual suggests concern about mania, psychosis or potential for harm to the individual or others. In this case, the HCP should not leave the pregnant or postpartum individual alone or with the baby until a risk assessment has been completed, as described. The HCP should also check to see if there are already existing safety plans in place for the individual or if previous safety plans were made that should be revisited [5].

Nature of Intervention

In the case of severe illness that includes psychosis or mania (including exacerbations in schizophrenia and/or bipolar disorder), or risk of harm to self or others, immediate action from the HCP to protect the safety of the individual and/or their infant and/or others is required. Postpartum psychosis or active suicidal or aggressive ideation must be considered a psychiatric emergency, often requiring hospitalization due to its rapidly changing course and the danger of suicide or harm to the infant [28].

Urgent and rapid risk assessment is to determine the level of risk that the pregnant or postpartum individual poses to themselves and to others [4, 5, 6, 7]. This can be done by a primary HCP or by a specialist. There are two courses of action considered in this

treatment pathway depending on HCP assessment and degree of concern (as listed in the table above):

(1) Provider is concerned that the pregnant postpartum individual is experiencing mania, psychosis or active intent or plan for harm to self or others: A plan to transfer patient for emergency psychiatric assessment should be initiated. In Ontario, a physician may make an application for extended assessment by completing a Form 1 - Mental Health Act (Appendix G). This will authorize admission of the person to hospital for psychiatric assessment. The physician must have personally examined the person seven days prior to completing the Form and must perform the examination themselves (not delegating to another staff). Emergency services (e.g., 911) can be called to ensure safe transport for the person to the closest emergency department.

Children's Aid Society/Family and Children's Services Involvement

If there is concern about ongoing risk of harm to a child, the individual should not be left alone with the child, and it may be appropriate to provide a report to the local Children's Aid Society/Family and Children's Services using clinical judgement in accordance with professional regulatory colleges and Ontario legislation. Refer to section 125 of the <u>Child</u>, <u>Youth and Family Services Act</u> (CYFSA) for more information about the duty to report a 'child in need of protection'.

(2) Provider is able to assess and conclude that there is no active intent or plan for harm to self or others, and is able to provide appropriate support and follow-up: Mobilize patient's support system and ensure the individual has contact information for crisis services. Maintain close follow-up and consider treatment Steps 2 and 3 as appropriate. It is valuable to share information and maintain communication with providers in the person's circle of care, as permitted. A plan of action should be created, updated, and maintained with the patient and their support system.

Step 5: ARRANGE

Arrange follow-ups to monitor recommended treatment plan. Make modifications or changes to treatment step as required.

Regardless of the treatment step, HCPs should actively monitor symptoms to determine if the pregnant or postpartum individual responds well to the prescribed intervention or whether changes are required. Follow-up is essential to address barriers to treatment uptake, review risk factors and discuss progress.

Frequency of initial follow-up should be at minimum two weeks during the active treatment phase (12 weeks). More frequent contact may be required if there is a higher

severity of illness or if medication is prescribed, and conversely less frequent as symptoms improve. It should be clear to the person which health professional is providing follow-up care and the expected timelines. Where applicable, HCPs can use the mental health assessment tools for anxiety and depression listed in this report and pathway to monitor symptoms and need for additional treatments, or to determine when an individual has reached remission. Remission can be defined as PHQ-9 or GAD-7 score that is less than five, or EPDS score less than 10, on at least two assessments that are at least two weeks apart [42, 43].

Individuals with common mental illnesses who are prescribed psychotropic medication should be followed for at least six months after remission to assess need for ongoing treatment. Those with more severe and persistent mental health issues will require longer-term treatment and follow-up and should be referred back to their primary HCP for ongoing care.

Summary

The mental health of a pregnant or postpartum individual is important for their overall well-being and for that of their fetus/newborn and surrounding family. The care pathway is a guide for HCPs who may care for pregnant or postpartum individuals to identify, assess and treat (or arrange treatment) for mental health concerns across a spectrum of severity. The care pathway (Appendix A) is a tool that can be used with other resources, including the Ontario-based resources listed in the pathway. HCPs looking for more specific information should refer to the DSM-5, which is intended as a guide to assist clinicians' diagnosis and treatment of mental disorders. HCPs are encouraged to work with local experts and services when further assessment and treatment may be warranted.

Project Team and Acknowledgements

Project Team

Co-Leads:

Cindy-Lee Dennis, PhD, FCAHS Professor in Nursing and Medicine, Dept. of Psychiatry Women's Health Research Chair, Li Ka Shing Knowledge Institute, St. Michael's Hospital Fellow, Canadian Academy of Health Sciences

Simone Vigod, MD, MSc, FRCPC

Professor, Department of Psychiatry, Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto Chief, Department of Psychiatry & Vice-President Academics (Interim), Women's College Hospital Shirley A. Brown Memorial Chair in Women's Mental Health Research, Women's College Research Institute, Women's College Hospital Senior Adjunct Scientist, ICES, Toronto

PCMCH Staff:

Azra Dhalla, MBA, PMP Business Support Manager Aileen Jia, HBSc Program Coordinator

Brittany Groom, RN, BNSc, MN Program Manager Hibaq Ali, BHS Program Coordinator

Laura Zahreddine, RN, BScN, MN Senior Program Manager

The Provincial Council for Maternal and Child Health (PCMCH) would like to thank the PCMCH Maternal-Newborn Committee, PCMCH Maternal-Newborn Clinical Advisory Group and other stakeholders for their input on this guidance document and the *Care Pathway for the Management of Perinatal Mental Health*. PCMCH acknowledges the feedback of members of Ontario Health – Mental Health and Addictions Centre of Excellence, Ministry of Health's Public Health Division and the Ministry of Children, Community and Social Services on drafts of this work. PCMCH also appreciates the feedback received from Jaime Charlebois (RN, BScN, PNC(C), MScN, PMH-C) and Christina Cantin (RN, BScN, PNC(C)).

References

- [1] American Psychiatric Association. (2018, August). What Is Mental Illness? Available: https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/what-is-mental-illness.
- [2] Landstedt, E., & Almquist, Y. B. (2019). Intergenerational patterns of mental health problems: the role of childhood peer status position. *BMC psychiatry*, *19*(1), 1-10.
- [3] World Health Organization. Maternal Health and Substance Use. Available: https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/maternal-mental-health. [Accessed 12 July 2021].
- [4] BC Reproductive Mental Health Program and Perinatal Services BC. (2014, March). Best Practice Guidelines for Mental Health Disorders in the Perinatal Period. Available: https://reproductivementalhealth.ca/sites/default/files/uploads/resources/files/mental_h ealth_guidline_web.pdf
- [5] National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2018). Antenatal and postnatal mental health: Clinical management and service guidance. Available: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192/chapter/1-Recommendations#treatmentdecisions-advice-and-monitoring-for-women-who-are-planning-a-pregnancy-pregnantor-in-2. [Accessed November 2019].
- [6] Centre of Perinatal Excellence (COPE). (2017). Mental health care in the perinatal period: Australian clinical practice guideline. Commonwealth of Australia as represented by the Department of Health.
- [7] Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario. (2018, October). Assessment and interventions for perinatal depression. *Best Practice Guideline*. Second edition. Available: https://rnao.ca/sites/rnao-ca/files/bpg/Perinatal_Depression_FINAL_web.pdf
- [8] Healthy Human Development Table. (2016). Perinatal mental health and public health: Evidence summary from the healthy human development table.
- [9] Pierce, M., Hope, H. F., Kolade, A., Gellatly, J., Osam, C. S., Perchard, R., ... & Abel, K. M. (2020). Effects of parental mental illness on children's physical health: systematic review and meta-analysis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 217(1), 354-363.
- [10] Stuart-Parrigon, K., & Stuart, S. (2014, September). Perinatal depression: An update and overview. *Current Psychiatry Reports.*
- [11] Howard, L. M., & Khalifeh, H. (2020). Perinatal mental health: a review of progress and challenges. *World Psychiatry*, *19*(3), 313-327.
- [12] Vigod, S. N., Wilson, C. A. & Howard, L. M. (2016). Depression in pregnancy. BMJ, 352(i1547).

- [13] American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders:DSM-5.
- [14] Meltzer-Brody, S., Howard, L. M., Bergink, V., Vigod, S., Jones, I., Munk-Olsen, T., ...
 & Milgrom, J. (2018). Postpartum psychiatric disorders. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 4(1), 1-18.
- [15] Postpartum Support International. (2020). Anxiety during pregnancy & postpartum. Available: https://www.postpartum.net/learn-more/anxiety-during-pregnancypostpartum/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [16] Brown, H. K., Wilton, A. S., Ray, J. G., Dennis, C. L., Guttmann, A., & Vigod, S. N. (2019). Chronic physical conditions and risk for perinatal mental illness: A populationbased retrospective cohort study. *PLoS medicine*, *16*(8), e1002864.
- [17] Public Health Agency of Canada. (2020). Family-centred maternity and newborn care: National guidelines. Available: https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/maternity-newborn-care-guidelines.html
- [18] Khoury, J. E., Atkinson, L., Bennett, T., Jack, S. M., & Gonzalez, A. (2021). COVID-19 and mental health during pregnancy: The importance of cognitive appraisal and social support. *Journal of affective disorders*, 282, 1161-1169.
- [19] Vigod, S. N., Brown, H. K., Huang, A., Fung, K., Barker, L. C., Hussain-Shamsy, N., ... & Moineddin, R. (2021). Postpartum mental illness during the COVID-19 pandemic: a population-based, repeated cross-sectional study. *CMAJ*, *193*(23), E835-E843.
- [20] Lebel, C., MacKinnon, A., Bagshawe, M., Tomfohr-Madsen, L., & Giesbrecht, G. (2020). Elevated depression and anxiety symptoms among pregnant individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 5-13.
- [21] Racine, N., Hetherington, E., McArthur, B. A., McDonald, S., Edwards, S., Tough, S., & Madigan, S. (2021). Maternal depressive and anxiety symptoms before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada: a longitudinal analysis. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 8(5), 405-415.
- [22] Canadian Perinatal Mental Health Collaborative. National Report: Time for action- Why Canada needs a National perinatal mental health strategy now more than ever. Available: https://cpmhc.ca/report.
- [23] Tarasoff, L., Ou, C., Hooykaas, A., Charlebois, J., Tomfohr-Madsen, L., & Tomasi, P. (2021). Surveying providers to identify gaps in perinatal mental health services during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada*, *43*(5), 661-662.
- [24] Provincial Council for Maternal and Child Health (2021, January). Recommendations to address gaps in prenatal care system: Report from the COVID-19 Prenatal Care

Task Force. Available: https://www.pcmch.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/FINAL-2021_01_13-PCMCH-Recommendations-for-Prenatal-System-Gaps.pdf

- [25] National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2011, May). Common mental health problems: Identification and pathways to care. Available: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg123/chapter/1-guidance#stepped-care. [Accessed March 2020].
- [26] Sriraman, N. K., Melvin, K., Meltzer-Brody, S., & Academy of Breastfeeding Medicine. (2015). ABM clinical protocol# 18: use of antidepressants in breastfeeding mothers. *Breastfeeding Medicine*, *10*(6), 290-299.
- [27] World Health Organization (2008). Improving Maternal Mental Health: Millenium Development Goal 5. Available: https://www.who.int/mental_health/prevention/suicide/Perinatal_depression_mmh_final .pdf
- [28] Public Health Agency of Canada (2017, December). Chapter 2: Preconception care. Government of Canada. Available: https://www.canada.ca/en/publichealth/services/publications/healthy-living/maternity-newborn-care-guidelines-chapter-2.html. [Accessed November 2019].
- [29] Hutchens, B. F., & Kearney, J. (2020). Risk factors for postpartum depression: an umbrella review. *Journal of midwifery & women's health*, *65*(1), 96-108.
- [30] Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). (2014). Healthy Babies Healthy Children process implementation evaluation: Executive summary. Available: https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/h/2014/hbhc-exec.pdf?la=en.
- [31] Public Health Ontario (2019). Healthy Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) Program. Available: https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/health-topics/health-promotion/childyouth-health/hbhc.
- [32] Provincial Council for Maternal and Child Health, The Better Outcomes Registry Network, and Perinatal Working Group. (2018). A User Guide to the Ontario Perinatal Record. Available: https://www.pcmch.on.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2018/08/OPR_UserGuide_2018Update_Final_18-08-22.pdf.
- [33] Ali, G. C., Ryan, G., & De Silva, M. J. (2016). Validated screening tools for common mental disorders in low and middle income countries: a systematic review. *PloS* one, 11(6), e0156939.
- [34] Van Heyningen, T., Honikman, S., Tomlinson, M., Field, S., & Myer, L. (2018). Comparison of mental health screening tools for detecting antenatal depression and anxiety disorders in South African women. *PloS one*, *13*(4), e0193697.

- [35] Budikayanti, A., Larasari, A., Malik, K., Syeban, Z., Indrawati, L. A., & Octaviana, F. (2019). Screening of generalized anxiety disorder in patients with epilepsy: using a valid and reliable Indonesian version of generalized anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7). *Neurology research international*, 2019.
- [36] García-Campayo, J., Zamorano, E., Ruiz, M. A., Pardo, A., Pérez-Páramo, M., López-Gómez, V., ... & Rejas, J. (2010). Cultural adaptation into Spanish of the generalized anxiety disorder-7 (GAD-7) scale as a screening tool. *Health and quality of life outcomes*, 8(1), 1-11.
- [37] Sapra, A., Bhandari, P., Sharma, S., Chanpura, T., & Lopp, L. (2020). Using generalized anxiety disorder-2 (GAD-2) and GAD-7 in a primary care setting. *Cureus*, 12(5). Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7306644/.
- [38] Seo, J. G., & Park, S. P. (2015). Validation of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) and GAD-2 in patients with migraine. *The journal of headache and pain*, *16*(1), 1-7.
- [39] Molebatsi, K., Motlhatlhedi, K., & Wambua, G. N. (2020). The validity and reliability of the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 for screening depression in primary health care patients in Botswana. *BMC psychiatry*, *20*(1), 1-10.
- [40] Venkatesh, K. K., Zlotnick, C., Triche, E. W., Ware, C., & Phipps, M. G. (2014). Accuracy of brief screening tools for identifying postpartum depression among adolescent mothers. *Pediatrics*, 133(1), e45-e53.
- [41] Healthy Human Development Table, Public Health Ontario. (2018, November). Perinatal Mental Health Toolkit for Ontario Public Health Units. Available: https://www.publichealthontario.ca/-/media/documents/h/2018/hhdt-toolkit-perinatalmental-health.pdf?sc_lang=en
- [42] Gerbasi, M. E., Eldar-Lissai, A., Acaster, S., Fridman, M., Bonthapally, V., Hodgkins, P., ... & Meltzer-Brody, S. (2020). Associations between commonly used patientreported outcome tools in postpartum depression clinical practice and the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 23(5), 727-735.
- [43] Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B., & Löwe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Archives of internal medicine*, *166*(10), 1092-1097.
- [44] Byatt, N., Biebel, K., Debordes-Jackson, G., Lundquist, R. S., Simas, T. A. M., Weinreb, L., & Ziedonis, D. (2013). Community mental health provider reluctance to provide pharmacotherapy may be a barrier to addressing perinatal depression: A preliminary study. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, *84*(2), 169–174.
- [45] Byatt, N., Simas, T. A. M., Lundquist, R. S., Johnson, J. V., & Ziedonis, D. M. (2012). Strategies for improving perinatal depression treatment in North American outpatient

obstetric settings. Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 33(4), 143-161.

- [46] Khalifeh, H., Brauer, R., Toulmin, H., & Howard, L. M. (2015). Perinatal mental health: What every neonatologist should know. *Early Human Development*, 91(11), 649-53.
- [47] Bayrampour, H., Hapsari, A. P., & Pavlovic, J. (2018), Barriers to addressing perinatal mental health issues in midwifery settings. *Midwifery*, *59*, 47-58.
- [48] State of Victoria (Department of Education and Early Childhood Development). (2013). Perinatal Mental Health and Psychosocial Assessment: Practice Resource Manual for Victorian Maternal and Child Health Nurses.
- [49] National Health and Medical Research Council and the Centre of Perinatal Excellence. (2017, October). Maternal Health Care in the Perinatal Period: Australian Clinical Practice Guideline. Available: https://cope.org.au/wpcontent/uploads/2017/10/Final-COPE-Perinatal-Mental-Health-Guideline.pdf
- [50] Grigoriadis, S., Wilton, A. S., Kurdyak, P. A., Rhodes, A. E., VonderPorten, E. H., Levitt, A., ... Vigod, S. N. (2017). Perinatal suicide in Ontario, Canada: A 15-year population-based study. *CMAJ*, 189(34), E1085-E1092.
- [51] Canadian Psychological Association. (2018). "Psychology Works" Fact Sheet: Perinatal Anxiety. Available: https://cpa.ca/docs/File/Publications/FactSheets/PsychologyWorksFactSheet_Perinat alAnxiety.pdf
- [52] Wisner, K. L., Sit, D. K., McShea, M. C., Rizzo, D. M., Zoretich, R. A., Hughes C. L., ... & Hanusa, B. H. (2013). Onset timing, thoughts of self-harm and diagnoses in postpartum women with screen-positive depression findings. *JAMA psychiatry*, 70(5), 490-498.
- [53] Andersson, L., Sundstrom-Poromaa, I., Wuff, M., Astrom, M., & Bixo, M. (2004). Implications of antenatal depression and anxiety for obstetric outcome. *Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, *104*(3), 467-476.
- [54] Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (2013). Screening for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *CMAJ*, 1(4), E159-67.
- [55] Phelan, K. J, Morrongiello, B. A., Khoury, J. C., Xu, Y., Liddy, S., & Lanphear, B. (2014). Maternal supervision of children during their first 3 years of life: The influence of maternal depression and child gender. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology, 39*(3), 349-357.
- [56] Bauer, A., Knapp, M., & Parsonage, M. (2016). Lifetime costs of perinatal anxiety and depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 192,* 83-90.

- [57] Byatt, N., Xu, W., Levin, L. L., & Moore Simas, T. A. (2019). Perinatal depression care pathway for obstetric settings. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 31(3), 210-228. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540261.2018.1534725, 2018.
- [58] US Preventive Services Task Force (2019, February). Final recommendation statement: perinatal depression: Preventive interventions. Available: https://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/Page/Document/RecommendationStat ementFinal/perinatal-depression-preventive-interventions. [Accessed 2019].
- [59] Society of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Canada (2012). Postpartum depression: diagnostic and treatment issues. JOGC.
- [60] American Academy of Pediatrics (2019). Incorporating Recognition and Management of Perinatal and Postpartum Depression into Pediatric Practice. *Pediatrics*, *143*(1).
- [61] Public Health Agency of Canada (2011). Adult Care Chapter 15 Mental Health," Government of Canada, Ottawa.
- [62] Smith, M. V., Shao, L., Howell, H., Wang, H., Poschman, K., & Yonkers, K. A. (2009). Success of mental health referral among pregnant and postpartum women with psychiatric distress. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 31(2), 155-162.
- [63] Byatt, N., Levin, L. L., Ziedonis, D., Simas, T. A. M, & Allison, J. (2015). Enhancing participation in depression care in outpatient perinatal care settings: A systematic review. *Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *126*(5), 1048.
- [64] State of Victoria. (2014). Perinatal mental health and psychosocial assessment: Practice resource manual for Victorian maternal and child health nurses. Parent Infant Research Institute, Austin Health, Mercy Women's Hospital, Melbourne, Australia. Available: https://www.education.vic.gov.au/Documents/childhood/professionals/profdev/perinatal mentalhealthmanual.PDF
- [65] Dekel, S., Stuebe, C., & Dishy, G. (2017). Childbirth induced posttraumatic stress syndrome: A systematic review of prevalence and risk factors. *Frontiers in psychology*, *8*, 560.
- [66] Cox, J.L., Holden, J. M. & Sagovsky, R. (1987). Detection of postnatal depression: Development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 150(6), 782-786.
- [67] Stewart, D. E., & Vigod, S. (2016). Postpartum depression. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *275*(22), 2177-2186.
- [68] Lebel, C., Mackinnon, A., Bagshawe, M., Tomfohr-Madsen, L. & Giesbrecht, G. C. (2020). Elevated depression and anxiety symptoms among pregnant individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 5-13.

Appendix A: Care Pathway Tool

(Access and download the PDF document: PCMCH-Care-Pathway-for-the-Management-of-Perinatal-Mental-Health_23July2021.pdf)



CARE PATHWAY FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF PERINATAL MENTAL HEALTH

This Care Pathway provides a recommended approach for the identification, assessment and monitoring of mental health issues for pregnant and postpartum people in Ontario. This tool **does not replace individualized assessment, and clinical judgment is required** to ensure safe, effective, equitable and inclusive treatment of your patient.

1. ASK ABOUT THE WELL-BEING OF THE PREGNANT OR POSTPARTUM PERSON AT EVERY VISIT TO IDENTIFY THE NEED FOR MENTAL HEALTH SUPPORT AND TREATMENT

- Ask about mood and well-being of the pregnant or postpartum person at each visit and consider input from patient's circle of care. Assessment Tools can be used, including the Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7), Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) and Edinburgh Perinatal/Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) (see table below).
- Initiate a dialogue to understand the context of the person's mental health within their own unique situation with a lens on equity, diversity and inclusion.
- Identify factors that precipitate or exacerbate mental health symptoms (e.g., lack of support, financial difficulties, domestic violence, alcohol or substance use disorders, etc.).

2. ADVISE BY PROVIDING EDUCATION ON PERINATAL MENTAL HEALTH AND ARRANGE SUPPORT TO MITIGATE FACTORS THAT ARE AFFECTING MENTAL HEALTH

- Provide information about mental health problems in pregnancy and postpartum, how common they are and that effective treatments are available.
- Discuss strategies to increase practical and emotional social support, improve night-time sleep and incorporate
 regular meals and physical activity. These factors may improve mental health on their own for those with mild
 or subclinical symptoms and in conjunction with mental health treatments for those with problems that are
 more severe.
- · Link to community supports:

 Across Ontario, the <u>Healthy Babies Healthy Children (HBHC) program</u> is a free program delivered through Ontario's public health units in partnership with hospitals and other community partners to help families receive supports and services to enhance mental health, self-care and parenting capacity in the community.
 Arrange assistance in addressing precipitating and perpetuating factors, including resources available in the community to provide support (e.g., accessing financial, legal and domestic violence support, and accessing care for substance use disorders).

3. ASSESS THE SEVERITY OF THE MENTAL HEALTH CONCERN

4. ASSIST BY RECOMMENDING OR IMPLEMENTING A TREATMENT STEP (SEE DETAILS ON PAGE 2)

	MILD	MODERATE	SEVERE	URGENT
ASSESS Severity and Symptom Level	Mild or few, but persistent symptoms, minimal impact on day-to-day function	Multiple symptoms, persistent, impacting day-to-day function and quality of life	Many symptoms, persistent, significant impact on day-to-day function and quality of life	Psychosis, mania, or risk of harm to self or others
Assessment Tools (Depression & Anxiety ONLY)*				
GAD-7 (Anxiety)	Score = 5-9	Score = 10-14	Score = 15 or more	Not applicable
PHQ-9 (Depression)	Score = 5-9	Score = 10-14	Score = 15 or more or Q9 > 0	Intent or plan for suicide
EPDS (Depression and Anxiety)	Score = 10-12	Score = 13-18	Score = 19 or more or Q10 > 0	Intent or plan for suicide
ASSIST Initial Suggested Treatment Step	Treatment Step 1 (If very mild, can monitor and reassess at 2-4 week intervals)	Trestment Step 2	Trestment Step 2 or 3	Treatment Step 4

*Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7), Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) - Scores are a guide only, clinical assessment is required.

5. ARRANGE FOLLOW-UPS TO MONITOR RECOMMENDED TREATMENT PLAN. MAKE MODIFICATIONS OR CHANGES TO TREATMENT STEP AS REQUIRED

Address barriers to treatment uptake, review risk factors and discuss progress to determine whether new level of Treatment Step is required.

- Frequency of initial follow-up should be at minimum every two weeks during active treatment phase (12 weeks). More frequent contact may be required if there is a higher
 severity of illness or medication is prescribed, and may be less frequent as symptoms improve. Be clear about which health professional is providing follow-up care.
- Use the assessment tools to monitor symptoms. Scores on a GAD-7 <5, PHQ-9 <5 or EPDS <10 on at least two assessments that are at least two weeks apart suggest remission.

Follow patient to remission. Follow the individual on medication treatment for at least six months or longer after remission to assess need for ongoing treatment.

The pathway was modelled after the 3/6 Construct (Coldstein, Whitlock, & Defue; 2004). Hence refer to the guidance document for full lat of references. The Care Pethegr is meant to be classically applicable for a wide range of populations. Contarto has diverse progrant and postpartum populations and this can greatly influence individual needs and mental health care expectations. When appropriate, health prefensionals should consult with specialized ergentrations dedicated to the support of specific populations when tailoring the Care Pethegr to the pennon's unique needs.

Page 1 of 2 (July 2021)

Appendix A cont'd: Care Pathway Tool

TREATMENT STEPPED-CARE APPROACH

A person can enter at any step in the Care Pathway and move up or down based on severity of illness and response to prior interventions. Treatments can build upon interventions available in the lower steps. Regardless of the treatment step being applied, continuous monitoring is required. Note: both public and private fee service options are provided below for a full list of options.

TREATMENT \$TEP	FOCUS OF INTERVENTION	INTERVENTIONS BY TYPE AND RECOMMENDED	RESOURCES				
TREATMENT STEP 1 Psychosocial Interventions (Community Support)	 Common mental health concerns such as depression or anxiety, where symptoms are mild or subclinical (may include patients for whom you are taking a watch-and-wait approach). 	Self-help (perinatal-specific) Guided self-help (e.g., interrestion • Self-directed workbooks for depression self-guided intervention that assistance from trained coad assistance from traine coad assistance from trained coad assistance from t		that may include oach) ostpartum specific	Peer support (e.g., mother-to-mother support) and Supportive Counselling (e.g., public health nurse visits, facilitated support groups) • Postpartum Support International (Ontario-specific resources) • Healthy Bables, Healthy Children (online/in-person, by region)		
TREATMENT STEP 2 Psychological Interventions (self or health care provider referrai) and Antidepressant Medication	Common mental health concerns of mild severity that do not remit with Step 1 interventions AND Common mental health concerns of moderate severity or greater.	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and Interperson are first-line treatments for perinatal depression an • Mother Matters: Online therapist-facilitated discus group for postpartum depression/anxiety (free in i • <u>BEACON digital therapy, AbilitiCBT</u> : Internet-base therapist available with perinatal expertise) Medication (within scope of primary care provider) • Antidepressant can be used (and/or psychological (I) psychological intervention alone is insufficient	d anxiety islon board and therapy Ontario) d CBT (free in Ontario, intervention) when	Additional Resources: Postpartum Support International (for public and private services) Local resources (e.g., Family Health Teams, <u>Ontario Structured</u> Psychotherapy Program, private services) ZillOntario (online Ontario database) ConnexOntario (online mental health database) Additional Resources: Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments Information on antidepressants in pregnancy and lactation:			
TREATMENT STEP 3 Additional Specialized Interventions	Mild or moderate mental health concerns that do not remit with Step 2 Severe mental health concerns (e.g., severe depression, bipolar disorder or schizophrenia)	 (2) symptoms are severe, or (3) preferred by the person Provider to Psychiatrist e-consultation for support recommendations: <u>Ontario Telemedicine Network</u> Refer to specialized perinatal program for direct p consultation (Check lists at <u>Public Health Units in</u>) Refer to local acute care institution for somatic tre electroconvulsive therapy) or for partial (day progr 	stient-provider <u>Ontario</u>) atment (neuro-stimulation,	MotherToBaby_LactMed Additional Resources: Additional medication options (see <u>Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments</u>) • When specialized perinatal mental health care is unavailable, refer to local hospital specialized perivices for specialized psychotherapy and pharmacological management and follow-up			
TREATMENT STEP 4 Urgent Care and Hospitalization	Suspected mania or psychosis Discloses intention or plan for suicide, self-harm or harm to fetus/infant	 Immediate Action: Urgent Risk assessment - Safety First. A person with possible mania, psychosis and/or thoughts of harming self or baby should NOT be alone or with baby until an appropriate assessment is complete. Many pregnant and postpartum individuals do have "Intrusive" thoughts of harm coming to their baby with no "active" intent. Each provider will have a different level of comfort with this assessment. Provider is concerned about mania, psychosis or harm to self or others: Initiate plan to transfer patient for emergency psychiatric assessment. MDs can complete an Ontario application for extended assessment. (Form 1 Mental Health Act). Call emergency services as needed to ensure safe transport for patient to the closest emergency department. Call local Children's Aid Society/Family and Children's Services if concern about harm to child. Provider assess that there is no active intent or plan for harm to self or others, and that patient has appropriate support, as well as capacity to access crisis services if symptoms worsen acutely. Mobilize patient's support system, Ensure the individual has contact information for crisis services; Maintain close follow-up, follow treatment Steps 2 and 3 as appropriate. Maintain and update plan of action with patient and patient's support system, including providers in patient's circle of care. 					



Your feedback is important! The Provincial Council for Maternal and Child Health is dedicated to improving the usability of this tool and the accompanying guidance document. We encourage healthcare providers using this tool to submit feedback via an online survey by scanning the QR code or <u>clicking the link online here</u>.



Page 2 of 2 (July 2021)

Appendix B: Table of Clinical Guidelines

Clinical Practice Guidelines

Clin	ical Practice Guidelines	
Nan Yea	ne (Publication Location and r)	Resource Link
	Family-Centred Maternity and Newborn Care: National Guidelines (Canada, 2019)	https://www.canada.ca/en/public- health/services/maternity-newborn-care- guidelines.html
	Assessment and Interventions for Perinatal Depression, Second Edition (Ontario, 2018)	https://rnao.ca/bpg/guidelines/assessment-and- interventions-perinatal-depression
Canada	Perinatal Mental Health Toolkit for Ontario Public Health Units (Ontario, 2018)	https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/health- topics/health-promotion/maternal-infant- health/hhdt
	Screening for Perinatal Depression (Ontario, 2018)	https://www.publichealthontario.ca/- /media/documents/R/2018/report-adapte- screening-perinatal-depression.pdf?la=en
	Best Practice Guidelines for Mental Health Disorders in the Perinatal Period (British Columbia, 2014) Antenatal and Postnatal Mental Health. The NICE Guideline on Clinical Management and Service Guidance (UK, 2018)	http://www.perinatalservicesbc.ca/Documents/G uidelines- Standards/Maternal/MentalHealthDisordersGuid eline.pdf https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg192
ational	Maternal Mental Health: The Knowledge Network. Free Registration (UK, 2015)	http://www.knowledge.scot.nhs.uk/maternalhealt h/learning/maternal-mental-health.aspx
Interna	Mental Health Care in the Perinatal Period: Australian Clinical Practice Guideline (Australia, 2017)	https://www.clinicalguidelines.gov.au/portal/258 6/mental-health-care-perinatal-period- australian-clinical-practice-guideline
	Bettercare Maternal Mental Health Handbook (International, 2015)	https://www.mhinnovation.net/resources/betterc are-maternal-mental-health-book

Appendix C: Ontario Perinatal Record – Mental Health Screening Tools

Ontari	O Reso	y of Heal OUICE		Long-Te	erm Car	e						
ast Name	Fi	rst Name	•]					
Anx	tiety Screenin	ng					Depress	ion Scr	eenii	ng		
Generalized Anxiety Dis	order scale (G	- AD-2)	Date	YYYY/	/M/DD	The Pa	tient Health Question	naire-2 (PHQ	- 2) Da	te YYYY	/MM/C
Over the last 2 weeks, how een bothered by the follow				More han half	Nearly every		last 2 weeks, how often thered by the following p		Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	
Feeling nervous, anxious or on edge 0 1 2 3							nterest or pleasure in do	ina thinas	0	1	2	3
Not been able to stop or o	-	0	1	2	3	H	g down, depressed or ho		0	1	2	3
A lotal score of 3 or more v Jsing the GAD-7 for further a mental health follow-up.				Total Score		A total s Using the	core of 3 or more warra e Edinburgh Postnatal De tient Health Questionnair	nts consid pression S re (PHQ) 9	icale (for fu	EPDS)	Total Score	
		T-/	ACE S	creeni	ing Too	I (Alcoho					L	
Response Key								Date y	YYY1			
1 Drink is equivalent to:										Respor	160	
		oz of win		• 1.5 oz	of hard	liquor (mixe	ed drink)	- 2 +				10 - 1
 How many drinks does it Have people annoyed yo 		-						≤ 2 dr	nks = 0 = 0	U	> 2 drink Yes =	
3. Have you felt you ought t			-						b = 0 b = 0		Yes =	· ·
 Have you ever had a drir 	-		-	adv vour	nerves	or to get rid	of a hangover?		b = 0		Yes = 1	
Vtotal score of 2 or greate	-					_		Total			100	
	· · ·							Score	_	-		
the past 7 days	Eainpurgn	Perina	tal / P	ostnat	ai Depi	ession	Scale (EPDS) Cox, Ho	-				
In the past 7 days:						nuch as l	always could = 0	Date γ □ Definit			h now - 2	
. I have been able to laug	h and see the fu	nny side	of thin	gs				□ Dennio □ Notat			11 HOW = 2	
. I have looked forward w	ith enjoyment to	things						Definit			used to =	2
						ather less t o, never = (Hardly Yes. so		= 3 f the time	- 2	
 I have blamed myself ur 	nnecessarily whe	en things	went v	wrong		o, not very		⊔ ies,so ⊡ Yes,m				
. I have been anxious or	worried for no go	ood reas	on			o, not at all				nes = 2		
						ardly ever = o, not at all						
 I have felt scared or par 	icky for no very	good rea	ason			o, not at all o, not much		⊔ res,so ⊡ Yes,qu				
6. Things have been gettin					have co	l as ever = ped well =	1 D Yes, most of the	time I hav	en't be	en able		
. I have been so unhappy	that I have had o	difficulty	sleepin	ng		o, not much ot very ofte		□ Yes, so □ Yes, m			= 3	
I have felt sad or misera	ble					o, not much	n = 0	□ Yes, qu	uite of	ten = 2		
	510					ot very ofte		□ Yes, m			:= 3	
. I have been so unhappy	that I have been	crying				o, never = (nly occasio		□ Yes,qu □ Yes,m		ten = 2 the time	= 3	
0. The thought of harming	myself has occ	urred to	me		D N	o, never = (0	□ Yes, qu	uite of	ten = 2		
-				(har		nly occasio	nally = 1 ediate mental health ass			the time		
otal and a	lonitor, support, an	d offer edi	ucation	-naim. P	auentre	quires min	equate mental fieldur assi	essment af	ia mte	a venuor	as appro	priati
Score Score > 12	Follow up with comp	orehensive	bio-psyc	chosocial o	diagnostic	assessment	for depression.					
	Institute of I	Medicir	ne Wei	ight Ga	ain Red	commen	dations for Pregna	ncy (200	9)			
Prepregnancy Weight Cotogony	Body Mass	s Index		Recomm		~ L	Rates of Weight Ga	ain in Seco				ers
Weight Category Inderweight	Less than				eight in 8 kg (28		kg/wk 0.5	-	ID/	wk (mea 1 (1-1	in range)	
lormal Weight	18.5-24	4.9			6 kg (25		0.4			1 (0.8	1	
verweight	25-29				5 kg (15		0.3			0.6 (0.5		
bese (includes all classes)	30 and gr	eater		5-9	kg (11-2	U)	0.2			0.5 (0.4	HU.6)	
Calculations assume a 0.5 to 2	ka (1.1.4.4 lb)	iaht anin in	the first	t trimosta	-							

¹ GAD-2 and PHQ-2 referenced in the OPR cues a provider to utilize the full tool (GAD-7 or PHQ-9). It is the GAD-7 and PHQ-9 that are indicated in the care pathway.

1

Appendix D: Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7)

Over the <u>last two weeks</u> , been bothered by the follo	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day			
1. Feeling nervous,	anxious, or on edge	0	1	2	3		
2. Not being able to	stop or control worrying	0	1	2	3		
3. Worrying too muc	0	1	2	3			
4. Trouble relaxing		0	1	2	3		
5. Being so restless	that it is hard to sit still	0	1	2	3		
6. Becoming easily a	annoyed or irritable	0	1	2	3		
7. Feeling afraid, as might happen	if something awful	0	1	2	3		
Column totals + + =							
Total score							
If you checked any problems, how difficult have they made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?							
Not difficult at all	Somewhat difficult	Very difficult		Extremely difficult			

GAD-7 Anxiety

Source: Primary Care Evaluation of Mental Disorders Patient Health Questionnaire (PRIME-MD-PHQ). The PHQ was developed by Drs. Robert L. Spitzer, Janet B.W. Williams, Kurt Kroenke, and colleagues. For research information, contact Dr. Spitzer at <u>ris8@columbia.edu</u>. PRIME-MD® is a trademark of Pfizer Inc. Copyright© 1999 Pfizer Inc. All rights reserved. Reproduced with permission

Scoring GAD-7 Anxiety Severity

This is calculated by assigning scores of 0, 1, 2, and 3 to the response categories, respectively, of "not at all," "several days," "more than half the days," and "nearly every day." GAD-7 total score for the seven items ranges from 0 to 21.

0-4: minimal anxiety

5-9: mild anxiety

10-14: moderate anxiety

15-21: severe anxiety

Appendix E: Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)

NAME:		DATE:		;
Over the last 2 weeks, how often have you been				
bothered by any of the following problems? (use "✓" to indicate your answer)	Not at all	Several days	More than half the days	Nearly every day
1. Little interest or pleasure in doing things	0	1	2	3
2. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless	0	1	2	3
3. Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much	0	1	2	3
4. Feeling tired or having little energy	0	1	2	3
5. Poor appetite or overeating	0	1	2	3
6. Feeling bad about yourself—or that you are a failure or have let yourself or your family down	0	1	2	3
7. Trouble concentrating on things, such as reading the newspaper or watching television	o	1	2	3
8. Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed. Or the opposite — being so figety or restless that you have been moving around a lot more than usual	0	1	2	3
9. Thoughts that you would be better off dead, or of hurting yourself	o	1	2	3
	add columns		+	+
(Healthcare professional: For interpretation of TOT) please refer to accompanying scoring card).	AL, TOTAL:			
10. If you checked off any problems, how difficult have these problems made it for you to do your work, take care of things at home, or get along with other people?		Somew Very dif	cult at all hat difficult ficult ely difficult	

PATIENT HEALTH QUESTIONNAIRE (PHQ-9)

Copyright © 1999 Pfizer Inc. All rights reserved. Reproduced with permission. PRIME-MD© is a trademark of Pfizer Inc. A2663B 10-04-2005

Appendix F: Edinburgh Perinatal/Postnatal Depression Scale (EDPS)

Edinburgh Perinatal/Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) SCORING GUIDE

- 1. I have been able to laugh and see the funny side of things
 - 0 As much as I always could
 - 1 Not quite so much now
 - 2 Definitely not so much now
 - 3 Not at all
- I have looked forward with enjoyment to things
 As much as I ever did
 - 1 Rather less than I used to
 - 2 Definitely less than I used to
 - 2 Definitely less than I use
 - 3 Hardly at all
- 3. I have blamed myself unnecessarily when things went wrong
 - 3 Yes, most of the time
 - 2 Yes, some of the time
 - 1 Not very often
 - 0 No, never
- 4. I have been anxious or worried for no good reason
 - 0 No, not at all
 - 1 Hardly ever
 - 2 Yes, sometimes
 - 3 Yes, very often
- 5. I have felt scared or panicky for no very good reason
 - 3 Yes, quite a lot
 - 2 Yes, sometimes
 - 1 No, not much
 - 0 No, not at all

EPDS Score Interpretation Action

6. Things have been getting on top of me

- 3 Yes, most of the time I haven't been able to cope
- 2 Yes, sometimes I haven't been coping as well as usual
- 1 No, most of the time I have coped quite well
- 0 No, I have been coping as well as ever
- 7. I have been so unhappy that I have had difficulty sleeping
 - 3 Yes, most of the time
 - 2 Yes, sometimes
 - 1 Not very often
 - 0 No, not at all
- 8. I have felt sad or miserable
 - 3 Yes, most of the time
 - 2 Yes, quite often
 - 1 Not very often
 - 0 No, not at all
- 9. I have been so unhappy that I have been crying
 - 3 Yes, most of the time
 - 2 Yes, quite often
 - 1 Only occasionally
 - 0 No, never
- 10. The thought of harming myself has occurred to me
 - 3 Yes, quite often
 - 2 Sometimes
 - 1 Hardly ever
 - 0 Never

The British Journal of Psychiatry. 1987; 150(6):782-786.

BC Reproductive Mental Health Program and Perinatal Services BC. (2014), Best Practice Guidelines for Mental Health Disorders in the Perinatal Period. Available at: http://tiny.cc/MHGuidelines

Revised March 2015

Appendix G: Form 1 Mental Health Act

Below is a snapshot of page one of the form. The complete three-page form can be accessed online at the <u>Government of Ontario Central Forms Repository</u> (Form No. 014-6427-41).

		rm 1 ental Health Act			n by Physicia c Assessment		
Clear Form	Name of physician			pint name of physician)			
	Physician address			and name of privations			
				(address of physician)			
	Telephone number	()		Fax number (
	On(da	(m)	I personally examined	(print full ner	ne of person)		
	whose address is						
	(form #stime) You may only sign this Form 1 if you have personally examined the person within the past seven days. In deciding if a Form 1 is appropriate, you must complete either Box A (serious harm test) or Box B (persons who are incapable of consenting to treatment and meet the specified criteria test) below. Box A – Section 15(1) of the Mental Health Act Serious Harm Test						
	The Past / Present	t Test (check or	ne or more)				
	I have reasonable cause to believe that the person:						
	has threatened of	or is threatening	to cause bodily harm to	himself or herself			
			o cause bodily harm to h				
		has behaved or is behaving violently towards another person					
		ed or is causing another person to fear bodily harm from him or her; or in or is showing a lack of competence to care for himself or herself elief on the following information (you may, as appropriate in the circumstances, rely on any of your own observations and information communicated to you by others.) ervations:					
	I base this belief on						
						÷	
	Facts communicate	d to me by othe	15:				
	The Future Test (a	check one or mo	ne)				
	I am of the opinion that the person is apparently suffering from mental disorder of a nature or quality that likely will result in:						
	serious bodily h	serious bodily harm to himself or herself,					
	serious bodily h						
			nimself or herself				
6427-41 (00/12)	(Disponible en version f	françalse)			See reverse	7530-4972	